
CORPORATE REPORT  

NO: R160 COUNCIL DATE: July 24, 2017 

REGULAR COUNCIL 

TO: Mayor & Council DATE: July 10, 2017 

FROM: General Manager, Engineering FILE: 4520-80 (14933-
80303) 

SUBJECT: Extension of Soil Deposition Permit for the Property at 14933 Colebrook Road 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Engineering Department recommends that Council: 

1. Receive this report as information; and

2. Authorize the extension of the Soil Deposition Permit to allow the deposition of up to
180,000 cubic metres of soil on the lot at 14933 Colebrook Road, subject to the conditions
outlined in Appendix “II” attached to this report.

INTENT 

The purpose of this report is to seek an extension of the original large scale Soil Deposition Permit 
granted in 2013 for 14933 Colebrook Road (the “Property”). 

BACKGROUND 

Soil extraction from and deposition on lands within the City is regulated by the Surrey Soil 
Conservation and Protection By-law, 2007, No. 16389 (the “Soil Bylaw”). 

The Property was the site of a soil extraction operation many years ago.  As authorized by 
Corporate Report R143; 2013, a copy of which is attached as Appendix “I”, a Soil Deposition Permit 
was granted to deposit 180,000 cubic metres of soil on the property at 14933 Colebrook Road so as 
to return the property to a state similar to its pre-extraction topography.  The proposed filling was 
intended to support future development opportunities on the lot.   

Key permit conditions included: 
No more than 180,000 cubic metres of soil is to be deposited on the site; 
The Project must commence by June 22, 2014; 
The entire filling operation is to be completed within 24 months following its 
commencement; and 
Only one permit extension of up to 12 months may be issued beyond the original two year 
project. 
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Following issuance of the permit, Metro Vancouver initiated the design and subsequent 
construction of the twinning of the South Surrey Interceptor sewer.   

DISCUSSION 

During design and construction of the twinning of the South Surrey Interceptor sewer, soil 
deposition on the property stopped, with the exception of a small portion of fill placed along the 
newly constructed sewer main by Metro Vancouver, as there was insufficient space on the site to 
allow for both the construction of the South Surrey Interceptor sewer and the deposition of soil.  

Approximately 77,000 cubic metres of soil was deposited over a period of about one year after 
permit issuance by both the permit holder before the start of the South Surrey Interceptor project 
as well as Metro Vancouver as a part of the project.  Approximately 103,000 cubic metres of soil is 
needed to complete the soil deposition plan. 

As Metro Vancouver has now completed the construction of the South Surrey Interceptor sewer 
through the Property, the property owner and their operator are seeking to resume soil 
deposition.  

The original permit was granted on the condition that the operation is to be completed within 
24 months following its commencement, but that one permit extension of up to 12 months may be 
issued beyond the original two year project.  At the time that the permit was granted and the 
conditions were established, the property owner and staff were not aware of the impact that the 
twinning of the South Surrey Interceptor sewer would have on the soil deposition schedule. 

Although the original permit period has been exceeded, staff are supportive of the issuance of a 
permit extension until the end of October 2018, or 15 months, for the Property and are 
recommending that a number of conditions, as outlined in Appendix “II” attached to this report, 
be attached to the Soil Deposition Permit to assist in mitigating the potential impacts of the soil 
deposition operation.  These conditions are similar to the original conditions, with revised 
timelines and deposition volumes, and include the option that one permit extension of up to 
12 months may be issued beyond October 2018.  This extension will be subject to approval by the 
General Manager, Engineering.  Any further permit extension will be subject to consideration by 
City Council. 

If the permit is not issued at this time, another permit in the future will be required in order to 
support future development opportunities on the lot. 

SUSTAINABILITY CONSIDERATIONS 

This soil deposition supports the objectives of the City’s Sustainability Charter.  In particular, the 
works of this permit relate to the Sustainability Charter themes of Built Environment and 
Neighbourhoods, Ecosystems, and Infrastructure.  Specifically, these works support the following 
Desired Outcomes: 

Neighbourhoods and Urban Design SD2: Prioritize redevelopment of existing urban areas 
over greenfield development; 
Water, Air and Soil DO9: Air quality meets or exceeds established standards; and 
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Materials and Waste DO20: Materials and resources are used efficiently, sourced locally 
where feasible, and repurposed or recycled at the end of their life cycle. 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the above discussion, it is recommended that Council authorize the extension of the Soil 
Deposition Permit to allow the deposition of up to 180,000 cubic metres of soil on the lot at 
14933 Colebrook Road, incorporating the conditions outlined in Appendix “II” attached to this 
report. 

Fraser Smith, P.Eng., MBA 
General Manager, Engineering 

JA/CAB/cc 

Appendix “I” - Corporate Report No.R143; 2013 
Appendix “II” - Conditions that are Proposed to form part of the Soil Deposition Permit for the 

Proposed Soil Filling Operation 14933 Colebrook Road 

g:\wp-docs\2017\admin\cr\06291634-cab.docx 
CLR 7/20/17 10:20 AM

























APPENDIX “II”

Conditions that are Proposed to form part of the Soil Deposition Permit for the Proposed 
Soil Filling Operation 14933 Colebrook Road 

Project Scope 

No more than 180,000 cubic metres of soil (including the 77,000 cubic metres of soil which has 
already been placed on the property following issuance of the prior permit) is to be deposited on 
the Property and no fill may be placed outside of the permitted area as described on approved 
plans. 

Duration of Project 

The entire filling operation is to be completed by the end of October 2018 in two phases of 50,500 
and 52,500 cubic metres respectively. 

Only one permit extension of up to 12 months may be issued beyond October 2018.  The extension 
will be subject to approval by the General Manager, Engineering.  Any further permit extension 
will be subject to consideration by City Council. 

Erosion and Sediment Control (“ESC”) 

An ESC permit is required.  Site monitoring is to be continued through the full term of the soil 
filling operation and until the land is revegetated after the completion of the filling operation. 

Fisheries 

A Fisheries watercourse is located adjacent to the southerly edge of the fill area.  The applicant is 
to retain a Registered Professional Biologist to identify the northerly high-water mark of this 
watercourse, the 30 metre setback is to be staked off in relation to the high-water mark, and this 
setback is to be surveyed as accurate by a BC Land Surveyor.  The BC Land Surveyor must provide 
a plan showing the 30 metre setback as surveyed in the field.  A 1 metre high topsoil berm is to be 
constructed outside of the 30 metre line, and a swale with adequate check dams is to be built 
outside of the berm to ensure that sediment from the filling operation is directed away from the 
Fisheries watercourse and to a proper treatment facility. 

Traffic Control 

A Traffic Obstruction Permit with a Traffic Management Plan approved by the City is required, 
and the following must be strictly adhered to: 

No staging is to occur off-site; 
Vehicles are not permitted to back into or off of Panorama Drive / 54A Avenue; and 
No parking of trailers or vehicles is permitted on Panorama Drive / 54A Avenue. 

For the duration of the filling operation, all vehicles will enter and leave the site from Panorama 
Drive (via No. 10 Highway) and traffic control personnel will be provided at all times when trucks 
are entering the site throughout the term of the filling project. 
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The applicant must complete improvements to the unopened road allowance that runs south of 
Panorama Drive / 54A Avenue, construct a new access for Excellent Ice at 15000 - 54A Avenue 
from Panorama Drive, and remove the driveway letdown serving Excellent Ice on 54A Avenue.  
The portion of Panorama Drive south of the new Excellent Ice access shall be fenced and gated to 
provide security and safety for the filling operation. 

Tree Assessment 

No more than 24 trees may be removed from the proposed fill area.  No other trees are to be 
removed as a result of the proposed filling operation. 


